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Scottish Government | Riaghaltas na h-Alba 
You can contact me on:  
 

END 
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START 

From: John Booth <John.Booth@sqa.org.uk>  
Sent: 23 October 2024 09:29 
To: Martyn Ware <Martyn.Ware@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: HH draft timeline 
 
Hi  
 
As discussed yesterday, proposed timeline for report activities, pre- and post-publication. 
 
John  
 

END 
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START 

From: John Booth <John.Booth@sqa.org.uk>  
Sent: 24 October 2024 11:29 
To: Martyn Ware <Martyn.Ware@sqa.org.uk>; Margot McKerrell <Margot.McKerrell@sqa.org.uk>; 
Richard Pidgeon <Richard.Pidgeon@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: HH timeline 
Sensitivity: Confidential 
 
Hi 
 
Without pre-judging the outcome of the review, but based on the assumption the external 
review will be completed by Monday and we can then move to report finalisation ready for 
Fiona’s return on Tuesday, attached is a timeline that will hopefully take us through to 
publication by the end of next week. Thursday morning is looking quite busy(!) but if we can 
make good progress with all the assets and have everything lined up in advance we can deliver. 
 
Thanks  
 
John 
 

END 
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START 

From: Shirley Rogers <Shirley.Rogers@sqa.org.uk>  
Sent: 29 October 2024 14:17 
To: Fiona Robertson <fiona.robertson@sqa.org.uk> 
Cc: Martyn Ware <Martyn.Ware@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: RE: Higher History 
 
Thanks Fiona 
 
A briefing would be helpful, Cab Sec’s office has asked me to join the discussion at 17.45 too 
and it would be useful to know the position beforehand. A short note would be good if there’s 
not a chance for a chat 
 
Thanks 
S 
Shirley Rogers CBE 
Chair, Scottish Qualifications Authority (SQA) 
e: shirley.rogers@sqa.org.uk | w: http://www.sqa.org.uk 
Scottish Qualifications Authority 
Lowden, 24 Wester Shawfair, Dalkeith, Midlothian, EH22 1FD  
The Optima Building, 58 Robertson Street, Glasgow, G2 8DQ 
 
 
From: Fiona Robertson <fiona.robertson@sqa.org.uk>  
Sent: 29 October 2024 13:56 
To: Shirley Rogers <Shirley.Rogers@sqa.org.uk> 
Cc: Martyn Ware <Martyn.Ware@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: Higher History 
 
Shirley 
 
I am just back from leave today and the Cabinet Secretary has asked for a meeting on Higher 
History at 1745. I have asked Martyn Ware to attend. He updated me on developments this 
morning. The report is near final and we expect the independent expert to endorse the report 
today.  
 
It might be helpful if we could brief you before this meeting. It would also be useful to discuss 
the best way of ensuring that you and the Board are content with the report before it is 
published later this week.  
 
Many thanks. 
Fiona  
Fiona Robertson 
Chief Executive 
Scottish Qualifications Authority  
w: http://www.sqa.org.uk 
The Optima Building, 58 Robertson Street, GLASGOW G2 8DQ | 24 Wester Shawfair, Lowden, 
Dalkeith, Midlothian EH22 1F 
 
END 
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START 

From: John Booth <John.Booth@sqa.org.uk>  
Sent: 31 October 2024 17:44 
To: Fiona Robertson <fiona.robertson@sqa.org.uk>; Shirley Rogers <Shirley.Rogers@sqa.org.uk>; 
Martyn Ware <Martyn.Ware@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: HH media release - for initial comment  
Importance: High 
Sensitivity: Confidential 
 
Hi 
 
Attached is the draft media release to go alongside the report publication. This includes the 
WJEC statement. As we discussed on the call just then with SG, it would be helpful for Cab Sec 
to see this so she knows both what we and WJEC are going to be saying. 
 
I suggest we include this alongside the shorter version of the report that Martyn and I will work 
on tomorrow, and aim to get this draft over to SG colleagues by close tomorrow to enable a 
follow-up conversation with Cab Sec early next week.  
 
To that end, can I ask for any initial comments of changes on the attached. It’s longer than I 
would normally like for a media release but think it’s important we have quotes from you all 
plus WJEC and also go into some detail on the report. 
 
We can do further work to finalise the release before publication so will ensure this is marked 
as draft when we send.  
 
Thanks  
 
John  
 
END 
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START 

From: Shirley Rogers <Shirley.Rogers@sqa.org.uk>  
Sent: 01 November 2024 09:38 
To: Fiona Robertson <fiona.robertson@sqa.org.uk>; John Booth <John.Booth@sqa.org.uk>; Martyn 
Ware <Martyn.Ware@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: RE: HH media release - for initial comment  
Sensitivity: Confidential 
 
For completeness< I’m happy too 
 
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
Sent: 01 November 2024 07:04 
To: John Booth <John.Booth@sqa.org.uk>; Shirley Rogers <Shirley.Rogers@sqa.org.uk>; Martyn 
Ware <Martyn.Ware@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: RE: HH media release - for initial comment  
Sensitivity: Confidential 
 
Thanks John 
So I don’t hold this up (heading off to regional event shortly), I am happy for this to progress. I 
may adjust my comments slightly, but I think the overall approach looks very good. 
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
Sent: 01 November 2024 09:55 
To: Martyn Ware <Martyn.Ware@sqa.org.uk>; Fiona Robertson <fiona.robertson@sqa.org.uk>; 
Shirley Rogers <Shirley.Rogers@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: RE: HH media release - for initial comment  
Sensitivity: Confidential 
 
Thanks Martyn. Changes noted. 
 
John 
John Booth 
Director of Communications, SQA 
 
 
From: Martyn Ware <Martyn.Ware@sqa.org.uk>  
Sent: 01 November 2024 09:47 
To: John Booth <John.Booth@sqa.org.uk>; Fiona Robertson <fiona.robertson@sqa.org.uk>; Shirley 
Rogers <Shirley.Rogers@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: Re: HH media release - for initial comment  
Sensitivity: Confidential 
 
Thanks for this John, I am happy with it too with two comments: 
 
In answer to your question on p2 the additional detail was provided in response to marker 
feedback in previous years so your point is correct. 
For the first line of my quote could we say 'Our review of Higher History has been rigorous and 
robust with a wide range of evidence....'? This - I think - aligns with our latest press statement 
and denies the opportunity for anyone to claim they have found a stone that we didn't turn over. 
 
Martyn 

Martyn Ware 
Director of Policy, Analysis and Standards 

m: 07725 757089 | e: martyn.ware@sqa.org.uk | w: http://www.sqa.org.uk 
Scottish Qualifications Authority 
The Optima Building, 58 Robertson Street, GLASGOW G2 8DQ 

END 
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START 

From: John Booth <John.Booth@sqa.org.uk>  
Sent: 04 November 2024 18:18 
To: Fiona Robertson <fiona.robertson@sqa.org.uk>; Shirley Rogers <Shirley.Rogers@sqa.org.uk>; 
Martyn Ware <Martyn.Ware@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: Agreed SG lines on HH report 
 
As an aside to the Board discussions, SG have now shared the lines that have been signed off 
by the Cab Sec. I’ve pasted below. 
 
John  
*** 
SG spokesperson: 
 
“The SQA has published its review into the marking of Higher History in 2024. 
 
“It is welcome that SQA has identified areas for improvement from having undertaken this 
review, including improving how feedback received from markers is considered.” 
 
DETAILED LINES TO TAKE IF ASKED 
 
On Findings: 
 

• The Scottish Government accepts the report’s conclusions. 
 
On peer review: 
 

• We note that the report has been independently scrutinised and endorsed by the 
Executive Director of Qualifications and Assessment at WJEC, Wales’ largest awarding 
body. 

 
On time delay: 
 

• While it was important that there was sufficient time to allow the report to be thorough 
and for independent scrutiny to take place, we recognise that this work has taken SQA 
longer than anticipated. There are lessons to be learned going forward in that regard as 
we move to establish Qualifications Scotland.  

 
On improvements SQA will take forward: 
 

• It is welcome that SQA has identified areas for improvement from having undertaken 
this review, including ensuring a better understanding of the end-to end process of 
marking and grading processes among teachers, and improving how feedback received 
from markers is considered so they are assured their concerns are being listened to 
and, if necessary, dealt with 

 
John Booth 
Director of Communications, SQA 
 

END 
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START 

From: Fiona Robertson <fiona.robertson@sqa.org.uk>  
Sent: 04 November 2024 16:05 
To: John Booth <John.Booth@sqa.org.uk>; Martyn Ware <Martyn.Ware@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: RE: cover note.  
 
Thanks 
���� 
 
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
Sent: 04 November 2024 16:01 
To: Fiona Robertson <fiona.robertson@sqa.org.uk>; Martyn Ware <Martyn.Ware@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: RE: cover note.  
 
Thanks. Some changes in red below. We sent the summary version on Friday so not sure if you 
want to send again? Have removed that reference for now. 
 
News release attached for inclusion. 
 
John 
 
John Booth 
Director of Communications, SQA 
 
 
From: Fiona Robertson <fiona.robertson@sqa.org.uk>  
Sent: 04 November 2024 15:55 
To: Martyn Ware <Martyn.Ware@sqa.org.uk>; John Booth <John.Booth@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: cover note.  
 
Suggested note. Hope this fits the bill.  
 
 
Board members  
 
First of all, sincere thanks for your very considered comments on the Higher History report, 
following our meeting on Thursday afternoon.  
 
The attached document, prepared by Martyn Ware, provides a detailed response on how we 
propose that these are handled before publication. In considering these, I think it is important 
that that we make the distinction between matters of presentation and the content of the 
report. Ultimately, while I accept that this will be seen as a SQA report and the Board has an 
important role to play, this was commissioned from the Head of Standards, with external 
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oversight provided by WJEC. As John Morton has said, too much revisiting at this stage could be 
viewed critically. Colleagues would also need to revisit the external and internal assurance 
processes to date.  
 
Michelle has raised important matters of governance, and I think we acknowledged at the Board 
on Thursday that, given the unprecedented nature of this work, there are some process and 
governance issues to consider in slower time with the Qualifications Committee. Fiona has 
kept me fully informed from the inception of this review. 
 
I am not, at this stage, proposing another round of approvals. Further delay of this report brings 
further risk and I am keen that, subject to the views of Scottish Ministers, that we publish this 
week. However, if individual board members wish to discuss further, please do let me know.  
 
For completeness, the press release is also attached to this email which includes the quote 
from the external reviewer.  
 
Many thanks 
 
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
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Kind regards 
 
Grahame  
 
END 
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START 

From: John Booth <John.Booth@sqa.org.uk>  
Sent: 04 November 2024 18:14 
To: Fiona Robertson <fiona.robertson@sqa.org.uk>; Shirley Rogers <Shirley.Rogers@sqa.org.uk>; 
Martyn Ware <Martyn.Ware@sqa.org.uk> 
Cc: Steve Borley <Steve.Borley@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: RE: Higher History Review report - Response to Board members' comments 
 
I’m also content and have attached an updated version of the media release, bringing the 
summary of findings into notes for editors. I’m happy to review the length of the quotes 
tomorrow to see if we can shorten the main text further – I agree it is a longer release than we 
would normally issue but think it is a consequence of the report and the various comments 
required. 
 
John  
John Booth 
Director of Communications, SQA 
 
 
From: Fiona Robertson <fiona.robertson@sqa.org.uk>  
Sent: 04 November 2024 18:10 
To: Shirley Rogers <Shirley.Rogers@sqa.org.uk>; Martyn Ware <Martyn.Ware@sqa.org.uk> 
Cc: John Booth <John.Booth@sqa.org.uk>; Steve Borley <Steve.Borley@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: RE: Higher History Review report - Response to Board members' comments 
 
Thanks Shirley  
 
Just to confirm, I am content. I think you can also ask me, as Chief Examiner, to consider future 
approaches and advise QC and the Board.  
 
Martyn/Steve, grateful if this could issue tonight.  
 
Thanks again.  
 
Fiona  
 
Fiona Robertson 
Chief Executiv 
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
Sent: 04 November 2024 18:05 
To: Martyn Ware <Martyn.Ware@sqa.org.uk> 
Cc: Fiona Robertson <fiona.robertson@sqa.org.uk>; John Booth <John.Booth@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: RE: Higher History Review report - Response to Board members' comments 
 
Martyn 
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Thank you. A few thoughts. I just shared them in a conversation with Fiona and she was content 
– I say that because I think she was rightly logging off for the evening. 
 
 
I think the media release is too long. I would prefer a shorter version maybe using some of the 
detail in an “notes to the Editor” format, but I’ll go with John’s advice. 
 
I like the matrix of how each of the Board members points have been dealt with. I think that 
strikes the right balance between showing that each has been properly considered and 
accepted where appropriate. 
 
I have amended the cover sheet to the Board as set out below in red: Can this one be used 
please 
 
 
Board members 

First of all, sincere thanks for your very considered comments on the Higher History report, 
following our meeting on Thursday afternoon. There was a great deal of information to digest in 
quick order and I and the team appreciate your prioritisation of these matters. 

The attached document, prepared by Martyn Ware, provides detailed information on how we 
propose that matters are handled before publication. In considering these, it is important that 
that we make the distinction between matters of presentation and the content of the report. 
Ultimately, while I accept that this will be an SQA report and the Board has an important role to 
play here, this was commissioned from and written by the Head of Standards, with external 
oversight provided by WJEC and it is important that the factual content of the report remains as 
drafted. Revisiting the findings at this stage would be inappropriate, subject to criticism and 
colleagues would also need to revisit the external and internal assurance processes to date. In 
matters of presentation, I hope that you will see the efforts that Martyn has gone to in order to 
try and address those concerns. I am particularly grateful to him for all his hard work. 

Michelle has raised important matters of governance, and I think we acknowledged at the Board 
on Thursday that, given the unprecedented nature of this work, there are some process and 
governance issues to consider in slower time with the Qualifications Committee. I also 
acknowledge that members have differing views on how these kinds of issues should be 
addressed in the future, for example in the stage and level at which we engage with external 
support and so on. Fiona has kept our sponsor team and me informed throughout but I have 
also noted the comments raised by colleagues and will ask QC to provide advice on the future 
approach to be taken should similar circumstances arise again. 
 
I am not, at this stage, proposing another round of approvals, but I hope that you can see the 
efforts that Martyn has gone to in order to resolve matters. Delaying the report brings further risk 
and potential criticism and I am keen that, subject to the views of Scottish Ministers, we publish 
this week. However, if individual board members wish to discuss further, please do let me 
know. 
 
For completeness the press release, which includes the quote from the external reviewer, is 
also attached to this email.  
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Many thanks 

Shirley  

 
Thanks again for all your hard work Martyn, come back to me if there’s anything else you need. 
 
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
Sent: 04 November 2024 16:54 
To: Shirley Rogers <Shirley.Rogers@sqa.org.uk> 
Cc: Fiona Robertson <fiona.robertson@sqa.org.uk>; John Booth <John.Booth@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: Higher History Review report - Response to Board members' comments 
Importance: High 
 
Shirley 
 
In the first attached document we have provided responses to the key points made by Board 
members on the Higher History Review by email following the meeting last Thursday. We have 
set out proposals for how these points are handled before publication. 
 
We have also prepared a draft note (below) for you to consider sharing with the Board together 
with this document and the draft press release that is also attached. 
 
Please let me know if you have any questions on either document. 
 
Thanks and regards 
 
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
For completeness the press release, which incudes the quote from the external reviewer, is 
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
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John Morton 
Director 
morcom solutions 
Tel 07515 352 461 

 
 
 
 
On 1 Nov 2024, at 15:05, SQA Chief Executive's Office <ceo.office@sqa.org.uk> wrote: 
 
Board members, 
 
Further to yesterday’s extraordinary Board meeting, please find attached a summary version of 
the Higher History review report which seeks to address many of the points raised yesterday 
about presentation during discussion of the full report. 
 
In order to enable us to move to publication of the review findings, could Board members 
indicate by midday on Monday 4 November whether they are content to approve publication 
of the full and summary versions of the report. I have also reattached the report in full so you 
have both items in the same email to review. 
 
Grateful if you could include this mailbox in your reply to allow us to collate Board responses. 
 
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
Sent: 05 November 2024 07:41 
To: Martyn Ware <Martyn.Ware@sqa.org.uk>; Fiona Robertson <fiona.robertson@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: Shortened news release 
 
Hi 
 
Have attempted to shorten the release further – including your quote Fiona – (see tracked 
changes) and moved the summary of findings to the notes section. 
 
Can you let me know if you’re content with this version, thanks. 
 
Martyn – can you also check the 56 out of 69 figure (see highlight) which I think is helpful is 
making 81% meaningful. I’ve based it on 81% of the 69 Scottish history markers who gave 
feedback.  
 
John  
 
END 
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amended the term Recommendations to Wider Reflections and included the new short 
introductory para under this heading on p. 47 
Searched for and replaced any other uses of the words 'Recommendation/s'  
 
Grateful if you could: 
confirm that the wording is the most up to date where I have asked on p 6 and 47 
Double check that the line I have highlighted on p 12 is consistent with the new summary doc 
 
I take it we'll then ask an Editor to have a final look at formatting (as the title of Appendix 1 
needs added in the contents page (and I mess the whole list up if I try to do it) and the number of 
the Wider Reflections section is missing from p 47) and then to pdf for publication? 
 
Hope that is clear and makes sense. Let me know if not. 
 
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
Sent: 06 November 2024 10:33 
To: Fiona Robertson <fiona.robertson@sqa.org.uk>; Martyn Ware <Martyn.Ware@sqa.org.uk>; 
Donna Stewart <Donna.Stewart@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: Final HH comms assets 
 
Hi  
 
Final news release, key messages/Q&A and slide deck. Thought it might be useful for you to 
have these all in the one place. 
 
John  
 
John Booth 
Director of Communications, SQA 
 
END 
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START 

From: John Booth <John.Booth@sqa.org.uk>  
Sent: 06 November 2024 10:38 
To: ExecutiveTeam <ExecutiveTeam@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: Higher History announcement at 2pm 
 
Exec colleagues 
 
Thought you would appreciate seeing the final text of the media release issuing at 2pm 
alongside the reports (full and summary versions) that will be published online. 
 
I’ll share this with SLT before it goes live.  
 
@Dawnne – can you share with the TU reps at 1.30pm please.  
 
There will be a staff message issuing shortly after 2pm too, which will link to the release and 
reports. 
 
Thanks  
 
John  
 
John Booth 
Director of Communications, SQA 
 
END 
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START 

From: Internal Communications <internalcomms@sqa.org.uk>  
Sent: 06 November 2024 14:10 
To: Internal Communications <internalcomms@sqa.org.uk> 
Subject: Higher History review — an update for all SQA colleagues 
 

 
 
Colleagues,  
 
A review of this year’s Higher History assessments is now complete and we are today 
publishing the review report, which concludes that the standard in 2024 was the same as that 
set in previous years. 
 
I hope the outcome of the review, which has been independently scrutinised and endorsed by 
an external awarding body, will reassure learners, parents, carers, teachers, lecturers and the 
wider public that they can have full confidence in our assessment and awarding processes.  
 
I would like to thank colleagues involved in this work, which has been taking place since 
September. This has been a challenging time for them. The report confirms that the Higher 
History exam team acted with integrity throughout the awarding process. 
 
More information, including the full report and our media release, is available to view on our 
intranet.  
 
Thanks,  
 
Fiona Robertson 
Chief Executive 
 

END 
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START 

 

From: Internal Communications <internalcomms@sqa.org.uk>  
Sent: 06 November 2024 13:31 
Subject: Higher History review — update for SLT message 
 
SLT colleagues, 
 
You will be aware of the Higher History review that has been taking place over the past two 
months. The review has now concluded and the review report is being published at 2pm today. I 
have attached a copy of the media release which will issue at the same time, and which I 
thought you would appreciate advance sight of. 
 
The review findings have been independently scrutinised and endorsed by an external awarding 
body (WJEC).  
 
This has been a challenging time for those colleagues involved in the review process. The report 
confirms that the Higher History exam team acted with integrity throughout the awarding 
process. 
 
An all-staff message will issue shortly after 2pm. 
 
Thanks, 
 
John Booth 
Director of Communications 
 
END 

  








